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Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all other persons similarly situated, by its

undersigned attorneys, alleges the following based upon the investigation of its counsel, which

included, among other things, a review of United States Securities and Exchange Commission

(“SEC”) filings made by Livent Corporation (“Livent” or the “Company”), as well as securities

analysts’ reports, advisories, press releases, media reports and other public statements issued by

or about the Company, including statements made in the Offering Documents, as defined herein.

Plaintiff believes that substantial evidentiary support will exist for the allegations set forth after

reasonable opportunity for discovery.

I. NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. Plaintiff brings this action under §§ 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the Securities Act of

1933 (the “Securities Act”) against (1) Livent; (2) certain of Livent’s senior executives and

directors who signed the Registration Statement and Prospectus (herein collectively referred to as

the “Offering Documents”) in connection with the Company’s October 11, 2018 Initial Public

Offering (“IPO” or the “Offering”); (3) investment banks that acted as underwriters for the

Offering; and/or (4) Livent’s controlling shareholder, FMC Corporation (“FMC”) (collectively,

the “Defendants”).

2. By this action, Plaintiff, on behalf of itself and the other Class members who also

acquired the Company’s shares pursuant or traceable to the Offering, now seeks to obtain a

recovery for the damages suffered as a result of Defendants’ violations of the Securities Act, as

alleged herein.

3. Plaintiff alleges that the Offering Documents contain materially untrue statements

of material fact, omitted to state material facts required to be stated in order to make the

statements in the Offering Documents not misleading, and failed to make adequate disclosures

required under the rules and regulations governing the preparation of such documents.



Defendants are each strictly liable for such misstatements and omissions therefrom (subject only,

in the case of the Individual Defendants and Underwriter Defendants, as defined herein, to their

ability to establish a “due diligence” affirmative defense), and are so liable in their capacities as

signers of the Offering Documents and/or as an issuer, statutory seller, controlling shareholder,

offeror and/or underwriter of the shares sold pursuant to the Offering.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4.         The claims alleged herein arise under Sections 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the

Securities Act. See 15 U.S.C. §§ 77k, 77l(a)(2), and 77o. This Court has subject matter

jurisdiction over the causes of action asserted herein pursuant to § 22 of the Securities Act and

under 42 Pa. C.S.A § 931(a). The amount in controversy exceeds $50,000, exclusive of interest

and costs, the jurisdictional amount, because this case is a proceeding in which exclusive

jurisdiction is not vested by law in another court. Section 22 of the Securities Act expressly

prohibits removal of this action to federal court.

5.         This Court has personal jurisdiction over each of the Defendants named herein

pursuant to 42 Pa.C.S.A. § 5322(a) and 42 Pa.C.S.A. § 5301. Each of the Defendants conducted

business in, were citizens of, and/or had designated a registered agent to accept service of

process on their behalf in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania at the time of the Offering. Livent

has maintained its principal executive offices in this state and/or county at all relevant times

herein, and each of the Individual Defendants: (1) resides in this state and/or county; (2) works in

this state and/or county; and/or (3) served as senior executive and/or director of Livent, a

Pennsylvania-headquartered company at the time of the Offering. Each of the Underwriter

Defendants: (1) maintains an office in this state and/or county; and (2) conducts significant

business in this state and/or county, including business related to the Offering. FMC Corporation,

has maintained its principal executive offices in this state and/or county at all relevant times



herein. The violations of law complained of herein occurred in this state and/or county, including

the preparation and dissemination of the materially false and misleading Offering Documents,

which statements were disseminated in this state and/or county.

6.         Venue in this Court is proper under § 22 of the Securities Act and Rules 1006 and

2179 of the Pennsylvania Rules of Civil Procedure because Defendants’ wrongful acts arose in

and emanated from this county. Each of the Defendants has an office or residence in this County

and/or conducts significant business in this County.

III. PARTIES

7. Plaintiff purchased Livent common stock pursuant and/or traceable to the

Offering and has been damaged thereby.

8. Defendant Livent Corporation (“Livent”) is the issuer of the stock sold in the

Offering. The Company is a producer and distributor of lithium chemicals and is based in

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. The Company’s stock is listed and trades on the New York Stock

Exchange (“NYSE”) under the ticker symbol “LTHM.”

9.         Defendant Paul W. Graves (“Graves”) served at all relevant times as President,

Chief Executive Officer, and Principal Executive Officer of Livent, and also served as a member

of Livent’s Board of Directors. Defendant Graves signed or authorized the signing of the

Registration Statement.

10.       Defendant Gilberto Antoniazzi (“Antoniazzi”) served at all relevant times as Vice

President, Chief Financial Officer, and Principal Financial Officer of Livent. Defendant

Antoniazzi signed or authorized the signing of the Registration Statement.

11.       Defendant Nicholas L. Pfeiffer (“Pfeiffer”) served at all relevant times as Chief

Accounting Officer and Principal Accounting Officer of Livent. Defendant Pfeiffer signed or

authorized the signing of the Registration Statement.



12.       Defendant Pierre R. Brondeau (“Brondeau”) served at all relevant times as

Chairman of Livent’s Board of Directors. Defendant Brondeau signed or authorized the signing

of the Registration Statement.

13.       Defendant Andrea E. Utecht (“Utecht”) served at all relevant times as a member

of Livent’s Board of Directors. Defendant Utecht signed or authorized the signing of the

Registration Statement.

14.       The defendants referenced above in ¶¶ 9 – 13 are collectively referred to herein as

the “Individual Defendants.”

15.       The Individual Defendants each participated in the preparation of and signed (or

authorized the signing of) the Registration Statement. Defendant Livent and the Individual

Defendants who signed (or authorized the signing of) the Registration Statements are strictly

liable for the materially untrue and misleading statements incorporated into the Registration

Statement. In addition, as directors and/or executive officers of the Company, the Individual

Defendants participated in the solicitation and sale of Livent’s common stock to investors in the

Offering for their own benefit and the benefit of Livent.

16.       Defendant Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (“Merrill Lynch”)

is a financial services company that acted as an underwriter of the Offering. Merrill Lynch acted

as a joint book-running manager for the Offering, as a representative of the underwriters, and

was allocated 6,552,000 shares. Merrill Lynch participated in the drafting and dissemination of

the Registration Statement, receiving certain fees and commissions.

17.       Defendant Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC (“Goldman Sachs”) is a financial services

company that acted as an underwriter of the Offering. Goldman Sachs acted as a joint book-

running manager for the Offering, as a representative of the underwriters, and was allocated



5,880,000 shares. Goldman Sachs participated in the drafting and dissemination of the

Registration Statement, receiving certain fees and commissions.

18.       Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC (“Credit Suisse”) is a financial services

company that acted as an underwriter of the Offering. Credit Suisse acted as a joint book-running

manager for the Offering and was allocated 4,368,000 shares. Credit Suisse participated in the

drafting and dissemination of the Registration Statement, receiving certain fees and

commissions.

19.       Citigroup Global Markets Inc. (“Citigroup”) is a financial services company that

acted as an underwriter of the Offering. Citigroup acted as co-manager for the Offering and was

allocated 1,600,000 shares. Citigroup participated in the drafting and dissemination of the

Registration Statement, receiving certain fees and commissions.

20. Loop Capital Markets LLC (“Loop Capital”) is a financial services company that

acted as an underwriter of the Offering. Loop Capital acted as co-manager for the Offering and

was allocated 800,000 shares. Loop Capital participated in the drafting and dissemination of the

Registration Statement, receiving certain fees and commissions.

21.       Nomura Securities International, Inc. (“Nomura Securities”) is a financial services

company that acted as an underwriter of the Offering. Nomura Securities acted as co-manager

for the Offering and was allocated 800,000 shares. Nomura Securities participated in the drafting

and dissemination of the Registration Statement, receiving certain fees and commissions.

22.       The defendants referenced above in ¶¶ 16 - 21 are referred to collectively as the

“Underwriter Defendants.”

23.       The Underwriter Defendants’ failure to conduct an adequate due diligence

investigation was a substantial factor leading to the harm complained of herein.



24.       Defendant FMC Corporation (“FMC”) is based in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

Defendant FMC spun off its lithium segment as Livent and was a controlling shareholder of

Livent following the IPO.

IV. SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

Livent and Its Business

25. Livent is a pure-play, fully integrated lithium company that produces performance

lithium compounds. Its primary products are battery-grade lithium hydroxide, butyllithium, and

high purity lithium metal. The Company’s disclosed strategy is to focus on supplying high

performance lithium compounds to the fast growing electric vehicle (“EV”) battery market,

while continuing to maintain its position as a leading global producer of butyllithium and high

purity lithium metal.

26. Prior to its IPO, the operations which currently constitute Livent were part of

FMC’s lithium segment. FMC formed and incorporated FMC Lithium USA Holding Corp. in

the State of Delaware on February 27, 2018, which was subsequently renamed Livent

Corporation. On March 31, 2018, FMC announced its intention to separate FMC Lithium as a

separate publicly-traded company. On July 26, 2018, FMC announced that it would rebrand its

“Lithium Material business” as “Livent Corporation.”

27. Livent generates over 85% of its revenues from the sale of performance lithium

compounds, principally lithium hydroxide, for use in electric vehicles. Livent generates the

remainder of its revenues from the sale of lithium carbonate and lithium chloride. Livent

produced approximately 13 thousand metric tons (“kMT”) of lithium hydroxide and 15 kMT of

lithium carbonate in 2017. Livent uses lithium carbonate principally to produce lithium

hydroxide. Livent relies on its low cost lithium it produces in the Salar del Hombre Muerto in

Argentina, from which it claims to source the majority of its base lithium compounds.



The Offering

28.       On August 27, 2018, Livent filed a draft Registration Statement on Form S-1 (the

“Form S-1”) with the SEC. Following a Form S-1 amendment on October 1, 2018 (as amended,

the “Registration Statement”), the SEC declared the Registration Statement effective via a post-

effective amendment filed on October 10, 2018. The Registration Statement was utilized in the

Offering.

29.       Each of the Individual Defendants and Directors signed the Registration

Statement.

30.       On October 10, 2018, Livent announced the pricing of its initial public offering of

20 million shares of its common stock at $17.00 per share and that the Underwriter Defendants

had been granted a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 3 million shares of its common

stock (the “Over-allotment Option”).

31.       The Company also announced that shares of Livent’s common stock were

expected to begin trading on the NYSE on October 11, 2018 under the symbol “LTHM.” In the

IPO, Livent sold 20 million shares of Livent common stock to the public at a price of $17.00 per

share. On November 8, 2018, the Underwriter Defendants exercised, in full, their option to

purchase an additional 3 million shares of Livent common stock, the closing of which was

completed on November 13, 2018. Net proceeds from the sale of 23 million shares of Livent

common stock issued in connection with the IPO and Over-allotment Option exercise were

approximately $369 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions. The net

proceeds from the offering, after payment of financing fees and other IPO related costs, were

subsequently distributed to FMC. Immediately following the IPO and the Over-allotment Option

exercise, FMC owned approximately 84% of Livent’s outstanding common stock.



32.       On October 12, 2018, Livent filed its Prospectus with the SEC on Form 424B1

(the “Prospectus,” and, together with the Registration Statement, the “Offering Documents”).

33. Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchased Livent common stock

pursuant and/or traceable to the IPO and the Offering Documents, and were damaged thereby.

The Company’s Materially Untrue and Incomplete Offering Documents

34.       The Offering Documents were negligently prepared and, as a result, contained

untrue statements of material fact, omitted material facts necessary to make the statements

contained therein not misleading, and failed to make adequate disclosures required under the

rules and regulations governing the preparation of such documents.

35.       According to the Offering Documents, Livent emphasized that its success is

dependent on sourcing of low cost lithium from its own production facilities and from “other

sources.” The Offering Documents stated the following in pertinent part:

Our primary raw material is lithium, which we extract through
solar evaporation and a proprietary process from naturally
occurring lithium-rich brines located in the Andes Mountains of
Argentina, which are believed to be one of the world’s most
significant and lowest cost sources of lithium. We process the
brine into lithium carbonate at our co-located manufacturing
facility in Fenix, Argentina and into lithium chloride at our nearby
manufacturing facility in Güemes, Argentina.

Our mineral concession rights with respect to Salar del Hombre
Muerto were granted to us pursuant to Argentine mining law and
are valid until the deposit is depleted of all minerals. See “—
Argentine Law and Regulation” and “—Principal Properties—
Mineral Concession Rights” for additional information.

We also purchase lithium carbonate from other sources from
time to time, and we continually look to diversify our lithium
sources. We purchased approximately 1.4 kMT of lithium
carbonate from a third-party supplier in 2016. We did not
purchase any lithium carbonate in 2017 from third-party
suppliers.



In October 2016, we entered into a long-term supply agreement
(the “Agreement”) with Nemaska Lithium Shawinigan
Transformation Inc. (“Nemaska”), a subsidiary of Nemaska
Lithium Inc. based in Quebec, Canada. Pursuant to the Agreement,
Nemaska is to provide lithium carbonate to us from an
electrochemical plant that is under construction. Since completion
of the project financing has significantly delayed the construction
of its electrochemical plant, Nemaska has reported that it is not in
position to start delivering lithium carbonate according to the
schedule in the Agreement.

To enforce our right to supply under the Agreement, in July 2018,
we filed for arbitration before the International Chamber of
Commerce (in accordance with the Agreement’s terms). In an
attempt to resolve the dispute, the parties have been actively
negotiating a revised schedule as well as arrangements to see that
(in spec) lithium carbonate be nonetheless supplied to us from
alternative sources under the responsibility of Nemaska, with a
view to providing us with product while minimizing Nemaska’s
exposure until its electrochemical plant is in operation.

On September 25, 2018, the parties agreed on the final wording
of a draft amended and restated supply agreement and,
accordingly, also agreed to suspend the arbitration process under
the expectation that the parties will agree on arrangements
regarding alternative supply sources in the very near future.

36.       The Offering Documents also represented that Livent’s stable of captive large

clients operating under long-term contracts provide the Company with meaningful visibility into

future production, demand, and revenue.  The Offering Documents stated the following in

pertinent part:

Our customers demand very specific product performance
characteristics, particularly from our battery-grade lithium
hydroxide and butyllithium. Our products require a high level of
manufacturing and technical expertise and undergo a stringent
prequalification process before they are sold to customers. Our
customers rely on our products for their high performance. For
many we are one of only a few suppliers of performance lithium
compounds, as many of our customers are unable or unwilling to
adjust to alternate supply sources that may jeopardize the
functionality of their end products and processes.



In 2017, we sold our lithium products to approximately 400
customers in approximately 37 countries, and approximately 77%
of our sales were to customers outside of the United States. One
customer accounted for approximately 14% of our total revenue
in 2017. Our ten largest customers accounted in aggregate for
approximately 45% of our revenue in 2017.

. . .

In 2017 and for the six months ended June 30, 2018, more than
60% and approximately 58%, respectively, of our revenue was
generated from customers with whom we have long-term
agreements with terms ranging from two to more than five years
in length, including all sales to our largest customer and nine of
our ten largest customers. A significant portion of the remaining
2017 sales were to customers with whom our relationship has not
changed materially during the past five years. BEV automakers
and battery and cathode manufacturers consider secure supply of
high performance battery-grade lithium hydroxide as critical to
their future success. These agreements generally specify an annual
minimum purchase commitment at either a set price (usually reset
annually) in a given year or within a pre-negotiated price range.
For instance, approximately 79% of our expected lithium
hydroxide production in 2019 is under contract, affording us
meaningful visibility into future production demand and
revenue.

. . .

The prices of lithium have been, and may continue to be, volatile.
We seek to manage volatility through the sale of performance
lithium compounds and by entering into long term contracts with
our customers; however, such efforts may not be successful. We
expect that prices for the performance lithium compounds we
manufacture will continue to be influenced by various factors,
including worldwide supply and demand as well as the business
strategies of major producers.

37.       The statements referenced above in ¶¶ 35 - 36 were false and misleading because

Defendants failed to disclose the following material facts which existed at the time of the IPO or

omitted to state facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading:

(a) The Offering Documents failed to disclose the size of a terminated supply

contract that would force the Company to satisfy its customer contracts with alternative vendors



at reduced revenues and lower margins. Specifically, the Offering Documents failed to disclose

that Livent would need to re-source 8,000 kMT of lithium carbonate in 2019, an amount that

equates to more than half of the Company’s 2017 lithium carbonate production, which had

previously been sourced through supplier Nemaska Lithium Inc.; and

(b) The Offering Documents failed to disclose that Livent had a long-standing

contract to supply lithium hydroxide to a customer at a much lower price than any of the

Company’s existing contracts and that customer had increasingly sought delivery on the contract,

which had been squeezing Livent’s margins.

38. Indeed, Livent’s purported “meaningful visibility into future production demand

and revenue” and the fact that approximately 79% of the Company’s expected lithium hydroxide

production in 2019 was purportedly “under contract” at the time of the IPO demonstrates the

statements about sales growth in the Offering Documents were false and misleading when made.

39. In addition, pursuant to Item 303 of Regulation S-K (17 C.F.R. § 229.303), and

the SEC’s related interpretive releases thereto, required Defendants to “[d]escribe any known

trends or uncertainties that have had or that the registrant reasonably expects will have a material

favorable or unfavorable impact on the sale or revenues of income from continuing operations.”

Similarly, Item 503 of SEC Regulation S-K (17 C.F.R. § 229.503), requires, in the “Risk

Factors” section of registration statements and prospectuses, “a discussion of the most significant

factors that make the offering speculative or risky” and requires each risk factor to “adequately

describe[] the risk.”  The failure of the Registration Statement to disclose that the Company was

renegotiating contracts, had already committed to supply one large client at a much lower price,

and was at risk of losing a material volume of its committed lithium carbonate supply violated 17

C.F.R. § 229.303(a)(3)(ii), because these undisclosed facts and known trends and uncertainties



. . .

would (and did) have an unfavorable impact on the Company’s sales, revenues and income from

continuing operations. This failure also violated 17 C.F.R. § 229.503, because these specific

risks were not adequately disclosed, or disclosed at all, even though they were some of the most

significant factors that made an investment in Livent shares speculative or risky.

Post-Offering Disclosures

40.       On February 11, 2019, Livent released its fourth quarter 2018 (“4Q18”) financial

results and provided a 2019 earnings forecast. While the Company met analyst earnings targets

for the quarter, it missed top line sales targets. In addition, Livent’s sales and earnings forecasts

for 1Q19 and full year 2019 all fell short of analyst consensus targets.

41.       On the February 12, 2019, during the 4Q18 conference call, Defendant Graves

explained the factors that contributed to the Company’s disappointing 4Q18 results and weak

2019 forecasts.  Defendant Graves stated:

Before I turn to our 2019 guidance, I want to discuss how the year-
end process for contract negotiations for 2019 played out. We saw
price and volume increases in both our butyllithium and high-
performance lithium metal product lines, reflecting Livent’s strong
position in these markets. Contracting for lithium hydroxide
began in late 2018 and early verbal indications from customers
suggested increases to volumes and stable to slightly higher
prices across all regions. In particular, we saw significant
increase in demand from customers in South Korea and Japan,
reflecting the continued migration towards lithium hydroxide
based cathode technologies in these countries. In China,
however, it became apparent as we moved through December and
into January that our existing customers were not willing to
enter into annual or longer contractual commitments for lithium
hydroxide at volumes or prices that they had verbally indicated to
us just a few weeks earlier. In a number of cases these customers
abruptly halted their conversations with us unless we were
willing to commit to prices that were lower than prices we were
achieving elsewhere in the world.



. . .

As of this time, however, it appears that customers in China have
elected to delay their purchasing decisions until they have greater
clarity on market conditions.

. . .

However, given these developments we made the decision to
continue to supply carbonate volumes in line with 2018 levels. As
a result, we have entered into several contracts with lithium
carbonate producers to supply carbonate to us in 2019 as
feedstock. More specifically, our plan is for all of this material to
be used in the production of our lithium hydroxide in China. Our
production experience allows us to purchase a reasonably wide
range of lithium carbonate and manage our hydroxide operations to
produce final product that meets required customer specifications.

. . .

Finally, higher costs from raw materials and VAT incurred due
to higher exports out of China act as a further headwind to 2019
Adjusted EBITDA.

. . .

All of this means that we will need to augment our internal
production with approximately 1,000 to 1,500 tons of third party
carbonate for use in our hydroxide units. This use of third party
carbonate is likely to be greatest in the first half of the year, for the
reasons set out above.

. . .

Our production experience allows us to purchase a reasonably wide
range of lithium carbonate and manage our hydroxide operations to
produce final product that meets required customer specifications. I
will give more details on the pricing outcomes, our expected
production and sales volumes and the financial impact of our
contracting strategy in a moment.

. . .

Lithium carbonate volumes are expected to be flat to down
compared to 2018, and our margins on the sale of lithium
carbonate will be lower due to the higher costs of third-party
purchases.



Put simply, a larger proportion of our lithium hydroxide volume
will go to long-term, well-established and rapidly growing
customers. This, combined with some negative FX impact, has
the effect of lowering the average realized hydroxide price by
roughly 50 cents per kilo, even while 80% of our customers have
committed to a price that is equal to or higher than the price they
paid in 2018.

. . .

Our sales contract structure has not materially changed, with about
70% of total 2019 volumes sold under contracts that have a
duration of two years or more, and roughly 80% of 2019 volumes
contracted at prices that will not change during the year.

. . .

However, our Adjusted EBITDA is significantly impacted by the
customer mix. This is predominantly due to one large lithium
hydroxide contract that has been in place for several years and
therefore has a much lower price than any of our other
contracts, including other contracts with this same customer.

. . .

There are cost impacts associated with this decision too, since we
will ship a significant proportion of these volumes out of our
China facility, meaning we will incur costs of VAT. Last year we
exported very little volume out of China in Q1, whereas this year
we have committed almost all of our China production for the
quarter to customers outside the country.

. . .

We also expect to have lower carbonate production in the first
quarter as I mentioned earlier, meaning that we will be using more
of the purchased carbonate in both Q1 and Q2, ahead of higher
Argentina operating rates in the second half of the year following
additional debottlenecks.

42.       On this news, Livent’s share price fell from a close of $13.12 to $12.55 on heavy

trading volume.

43.       On February 18, 2019, Nemaska Lithium issued a press release titled “Nemaska

Lithium Terminates FMC (Livent) Supply Agreement.” Therein, Nemaska disclosed that it:



has terminated its multi-year supply agreement (the “Supply
Agreement”) with Livent Corporation (previously FMC
Corporation – hereinafter “Livent”). The Supply Agreement
pertains to the provision of up to 8,000 tonnes per year (28,000
tonnes in total during the term of the contract) of lithium
carbonate starting April 1, 2019.

As disclosed in the Corporation’s financial statements for the year
ended June 30, 2018 (Note 23 – Subsequent Events), the
Corporation and Livent have had discussions with a view to amend
the Supply Agreement and throughout the discussions with
Livent, the Corporation has advised Livent that it might have no
option but to terminate the Supply Agreement and repay Livent
the USD10M payment (received by the Corporation in April 2017)
plus a similar amount as a termination fee, which the Supply
Agreement expressly allows it to do. Despite good faith
negotiations, the Corporation was unable to reach a mutually
satisfactory outcome with Livent. As a result, the Corporation has
no choice but to exercise its contractual right to terminate the
Supply Agreement. Livent has advised the Corporation that it is
seeking arbitration, which the Corporation will vigorously defend.

44.       On May 8, 2019, the Company again disclosed disappointing results for its

quarter ended 1Q19. Specifically, Livent missed analyst estimates on both revenue and earnings.

In addition, the Company lowered its 2019 outlook.

45.       On May 8, 2019, during the conference call to discuss its 1Q19 results, Defendant

Graves stated that:

Before turning to Q2 and the 2019 outlook for Livent, Slide 5
provides an overview of the lithium market conditions that are
most relevant to Livent, which will help frame both our Q2 and
full-year guidance. As the large global auto OEMs continue to
commit capital to and provide further detail on the next-generation
electric vehicles, the need for batteries with higher nickel
chemistries is becoming increasingly clear.

This, in turn, is placing the challenge of meeting the higher
performance and safety requirements onto the battery chain and
especially onto the cathode materials producers. In recent
conversations with a few of our large, established cathode and
battery customers, it is becoming increasingly clear that the
current facilities being used to manufacture high-nickel cathodes
will require additional investment in their processes to meet



OEM demands. The result of making these investments is a delay
in large-scale production of high-nickel chemistries across
several of our customers.

To offset the lower volumes of high-nickel cathodes and to
improve short-term profitability during this transition, many of
these established cathode manufacturers are increasing their
production of older cathode chemistries. This has been further
reinforced by the changes to incentive structures in China, which
has created a window in 2019 for producers of these existing
chemistries to delay the introduction of next-generation cathode
materials.

However, many of these older chemistries can't use either lithium
carbonate or lithium hydroxide. As a result of the lower
performance requirements in these applications, higher
performance lithium hydroxide, such as that sold by Livent, does
not generate the same price premium as in high-nickel applications
and, today, is priced relative to the lithium carbonate equivalent.
This is consistent with pricing patterns we have seen in these
applications historically.

. . .

Regarding customer mix, just as in the first quarter, one large
lithium hydroxide contract that has been in place for several
years and has a much lower price than any of our other contracts
is driving this mix effect during the quarter. This customer
continues to seek the delivery of more of its committed volumes
from Livent in the first half of the year. We now estimate that this
customer will have received roughly two-thirds of its 2019
contracted volumes by the end of the second quarter.

. . .

I stated earlier that some of our contracted lithium hydroxide
customers are delaying their purchases of hydroxide from us as
they suspend production of their high-nickel cathode materials
while they make additional investments in their existing
processes. This delay means that we will have excess hydroxide
volumes available in the quarter that will not be sold under
existing contracts and will instead likely be sold under shorter
term arrangements, primarily in China.

46. With respect to 2019 guidance, Defendant Graves stated, “We now expect full

year revenue of $435 million to $475 million, essentially flat with 2018. Adjusted EBITDA will



be between $125 and $145 million, reflecting lower average realized prices for lithium

hydroxide and lithium carbonate, as well as higher operating costs.  Defendant Graves added,

“Based on reduced demand for our high-performance lithium compounds from a number of

our larger customers, we have reduced our forecast for full year production and sales of lithium

hydroxide by roughly 2,000 tons,” and that “[t]he largest drivers of the hydroxide average price

reduction are customer mix and lower sales prices on hydroxide sold under short-term

arrangements in China.”

47.       On this news, Livent’s share price fell from a close of $10.73 to $9.03 on May 8,

2019.  Over the following days, Livent’s share price continued to decline, closing at $8.06 on

May 10, 2019. In the seven months since the IPO, Livent’s share price has declined by more

than 50 percent.

V. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

48. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action on behalf of a class consisting of all

persons and entities who purchased or otherwise acquired Livent common stock pursuant and/or

traceable to the Registration Statement issued in connection with the Offering, and who were

damaged thereby (the “Class”). Excluded from the Class are Defendants and members of the

immediate families of any Defendant who is an individual; the officers, directors, and affiliates

of Defendants, at all relevant times; any entity in which Defendants have or had a controlling

interest; Livent’s employee retirement and/or benefit plan(s) and their participants and/or

beneficiaries to the extent they purchased or acquired Livent common stock through any such

plan(s); and the legal representatives, heirs, successors or assigns of any excluded person or

entity.

49.       The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is

impracticable. The exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at this time and can



be ascertained only through appropriate discovery. Plaintiff believes that there are hundreds or

thousands of members in the proposed Class. Record owners and other members of the Class

may be identified from records maintained by Livent or its transfer agent and may be notified of

the pendency of this action by mail, using the form of notice similar to that customarily used in

securities class actions.

50. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all

members of the Class are similarly affected by Defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of

federal law as set forth herein.

51. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the

Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.

52.       Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the

questions of law and fact common to the Class are:

(a) whether Defendants violated the Securities Act;

(b) whether the Registration Statement was negligently prepared and

contained inaccurate statements of material fact and/or omitted material information required to

be stated therein; and

(c) to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the

proper measure of damages.

53.       A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. Furthermore, as

the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and

burden of individual litigation make it impossible for members of the Class to individually



redress the wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as

a class action.

VI. CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT  I

FOR VIOLATION OF § 11 OF THE SECURITIES ACT
Against Livent, the Individual Defendants, and the Underwriter Defendants

54. Plaintiff incorporates ¶¶ 1 - 53 by reference.

55.       This Cause of Action is brought pursuant to Section 11 of the Securities Act, 15

U.S.C. § 77k, on behalf of the Class, against Livent, the Individual Defendants, and the

Underwriter Defendants. Plaintiff does not claim that any of the Defendants named in this Count

committed intentional or reckless misconduct or that any of these defendants acted with scienter

or fraudulent intent. This claim is based solely on negligence and/or strict liability.

56.       The Registration Statement issued in connection with the Offering contained

untrue statements of material facts, or omitted to state material facts necessary to make the

statements made not misleading, or that were required to be stated therein.

57.       Defendant Livent is the registrant for the Offering. As such, Livent is strictly

liable for the materially inaccurate statements contained in the Registration Statement and the

failure of the Registration Statement to be complete and accurate. By virtue of the Registration

Statement containing material misrepresentations and omissions of material fact necessary to

make the statements therein not false and misleading, Livent is liable under Section 11 of the

Securities Act to Plaintiff and the Class.

58.       None of the Defendants named in this Count made a reasonable investigation or

possessed reasonable grounds for the belief that the statements contained in the Registration

Statement were true and without omissions of any material facts and were not misleading.



59.       The Individual Defendants each signed the Registration Statement either

personally or through an attorney-in-fact and/or caused its issuance. The Individual Defendants

each had a duty to make a reasonable and diligent investigation of the truthfulness and accuracy

of the statements contained in the Registration Statement. They each had a duty to ensure that

such statements were true and accurate and that there were no omissions of material fact that

would make the statements misleading. By virtue of each of the Individual Defendants’ failure to

exercise reasonable care, the Registration Statement contained misrepresentations of material

facts and omissions of material facts necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. As

such, each of the Individual Defendants is liable under Section 11 of the Securities Act to

Plaintiff and the Class.

60.       Each of the Underwriter Defendants, as an underwriter of the securities offered in

the Offering pursuant to the Registration Statement, had a duty to make a reasonable and diligent

investigation of the truthfulness and accuracy of the statements contained in the Registration

Statement. They each had a duty to ensure that such statements were true and accurate and that

there were no omissions of material fact that would make the statements misleading. By virtue of

each of the Underwriter Defendants’ failure to exercise reasonable care, the Registration

Statement contained misrepresentations of material facts and omissions of material facts

necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. As such, each of the Underwriter

Defendants is liable under Section 11 of the Securities Act to Plaintiff and the Class.

61.       None of the untrue statements or omissions of material fact in the Registration

Statement alleged herein was a forward-looking statement. Rather, each such statement

concerned existing facts. Moreover, the Registration Statement did not properly identify any of



the untrue statements as forward-looking statements and did not disclose information that

undermined the putative validity of those statements.

62. By reason of the conduct herein alleged, each Defendant named in this Count

violated, and/or controlled a person who violated, Section 11 of the Securities Act.

63. Plaintiff purchased Livent common stock from an Underwriter Defendant

pursuant to the Offering.

64. Plaintiff and the Class have sustained damages. The value of Livent common

stock has declined substantially subsequent to and due to violations by Defendants named in this

Count.

65.       At the time of their purchases of Livent common stock, Plaintiff and other

members of the Class did not know the true facts concerning the wrongful conduct alleged herein

and could not have reasonably discovered those facts prior to the disclosures alleged herein. Less

than one year has elapsed between the time that Plaintiff discovered or reasonably could have

discovered the facts upon which this Complaint is based and the time that Plaintiff commenced

this action.

66.       This claim is brought within one year after discovery of the untrue statements and

omissions in the Registration Statement and within three years after the Company’s shares were

sold to the Class in connection with the Offering.

COUNT  II

FOR VIOLATION OF § 12(a)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT Against
Livent, the Individual Defendants, and the Underwriter Defendants

67. Plaintiff incorporates ¶¶ 1 - 66 by reference.



68.       This cause of action is brought pursuant to § 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act, 15

U.S.C. § 771(a)(2), on behalf of the Class, against Livent, the Individual Defendants, and the

Underwriter Defendants.

69.       The Defendants named in this Count were sellers, offerors, and/or solicitors of

purchasers of the Company’s securities offered pursuant to the Offering. The Defendants named

in this Count issued, caused to be issued, and signed the Registration Statement in connection

with the Offering.  The Registration Statement was used to induce investors, such as Plaintiff and

the other members of the Class, to purchase the Company’s shares.

70.       The Registration Statement contained untrue statements of material facts, omitted

to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading, and omitted material

facts required to be stated therein. Defendants’ acts of solicitation included participating in the

preparation of the false and misleading Registration Statement.

71.       As set forth more specifically above, the Registration Statement contained untrue

statements of material facts and omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the

statements, in light of circumstances in which they were made, not misleading.

72. Plaintiff and the other Class members did not know, nor could they have known,

of the untruths or omissions contained in the Registration Statement.

73.       The Defendants named in this Count were obligated to make a reasonable and

diligent investigation of the statements contained in the Registration Statement to ensure that

such statements were true and that there was no omission of material fact required to be stated in

order to make the statements contained therein not misleading. None of the Defendants named

in this Count made a reasonable investigation or possessed reasonable grounds for the belief that

the statements contained in the Registration Statement were accurate and complete in all material



respects. Had they done so, these Defendants could have known of the material misstatements

and omissions alleged herein.

74.       This claim is brought within one year after discovery of the untrue statements and

omissions in the Registration Statement and within three years after the Company’s shares were

sold to the Class in connection with the Offering.

COUNT  III

FOR VIOLATION OF § 15 OF THE SECURITIES ACT
Against the Individual Defendants and FMC Corporation

75. Plaintiff incorporates ¶¶ 1 - 74 by reference.

76.       This cause of action is brought pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities Act, 15

U.S.C. § 77o, on behalf of the Class, against each of the Individual Defendants and FMC.

Plaintiff does not claim that any of the Defendants named in this Count committed intentional or

reckless misconduct or that any of the Defendants acted with scienter or fraudulent intent. This

claim is based solely on negligence and/or strict liability.

77.       The Individual Defendants and FMC each were control persons of Livent within

the meaning of the Securities Act. The Individual Defendants each had a series of direct and/or

indirect business and/or personal relationships with other directors and/or officers and/or major

shareholders of Livent. Livent controlled the Individual Defendants and all of the Company’s

employees. Livent conceded that, as a result of FMC’s majority ownership, it was a “controlled

company.” See Form S-1/A, filed with the SEC on October 1, 2018. By reason of its ownership

interest, FMC had the power to control and exercised the same to cause Livent to engage in the

conduct complained of herein and was therefore a control person of Livent.

78.       Each of the Individual Defendants participated in the preparation and

dissemination of the Registration Statement, and otherwise participated in the process necessary



to conduct the IPO. Because of their positions of control and authority as senior officers and/or

directors each of the Individual Defendants were able to, and did, control the contents of the

Registration Statement, which contained materially untrue information and/or omitted material

information required to be disclosed to prevent the statements made therein from being

misleading.

79.       As control persons of Livent, each of the Individual Defendants and FMC

Corporation are liable jointly and severally with and to the same extent as Livent for its violation

of Section 11 of the Securities Act.

80.       This claim is brought within one year after discovery of the untrue statements and

omissions in the Registration Statement and within three years after the Company’s shares were

sold to the Class in connection with the Offering.

VII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment, as follows:

A. Determining that this action is a proper class action, certifying Plaintiff as Class

representative, and appointing Plaintiff’s counsel as Class Counsel;

B. Awarding compensatory damages in favor of Plaintiff and other Class members

against all Defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as a result of Defendants’

wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon;

C. Awarding rescission or a rescissory measure of damages;

D. Awarding Plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in

this action, including counsel fees and expert fees; and

E. Awarding such other relief including equitable and/or injunctive relief as deemed

appropriate by the Court.



VIII. JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury of all issues so triable.


